
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2016-0085

	InnPower Corporation


	VOLUME:

DATE:
BEFORE:
	2
October 4, 2017
Allison Duff

Lynne Anderson

Michael Janigan
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2016-0085
InnPower Corporation
InnPower Corporation (InnPower) filed an amended cost of service application with the Ontario Energy Board (OEB) on May 11, 2017 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, (Schedule B), seeking approval for changes to the rates that InnPower charges for electricity distribution, to be effective July 1, 2017.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,
25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,
on Wednesday, October 4, 2017,

commencing at 9:40 a.m.
----------------------------------------
VOLUME 2
----------------------------------------

BEFORE:



ALLISON DUFF


Presiding Member



LYNNE ANDERSON


Member



MICHAEL JANIGAN

Member
LJUBA DJURDJEVIC
Board Counsel

LAWREN MURRAY

FIONA O'CONNELL
Board Staff

TED WOJCINSKI

JOHN VELLONE
InnPower Corporation
ADA KEON
JAY SHEPHERD
School Energy Coalition (SEC)
CYNTHIA KHOO
Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition (VECC)
ALSO PRESENT:

BARB CESARIN
InnPower Corporation

1--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.


1Procedural Matters


3INNPOWER CORPORATION - PANEL 2, resumed


W. Malcolm, J. Cowles, B. Pinke, M. Davison, D. Thompson; Previously Affirmed

3Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo


31Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


33--- Recess taken at 10:38 a.m.


33--- On resuming at 11:04 a.m.


33Preliminary Matters:


36Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd


55Questions by the Board


58Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic


73--- Recess taken at 12:13 p.m.


73--- On resuming at 12:41 p.m.


74Continued Questions by the Board


87--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:03 p.m.




2EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4.


7EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2 ON CAPITAL EXPENDITURES.





41UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REVISED STRATEGIC DIRECTION AND 2017 BUDGET


43UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO FILE A COPY OF INNPOWER'S MOST RECENT QUARTERLY REPORT TO THE TOWN OF INNISFIL, REDACTED AS REQUIRED


62UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO ADVISE WHERE THE FIXED ASSET CONTINUITY SHOWS THE 10.9; to confirm whether there are costs beyond 10.9 million that are included in the 2017 test-year rate base related to the building


73UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO CORRECT TWO ENTRIES IN THE APPENDIX.


78UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO IDENTIFY AND ISOLATE COSTS INVOLVED WITH THE LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS EMBEDDED IN THE 2017


82UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO PROVIDE THE BALANCES IN THE GL ACCOUNTS ACCUMULATED TO DATE.





Wednesday, October 4, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good morning.  This is Day 2 of the oral hearing to hear InnPower's cost-of-service application, Board docket number EB-2016-0085 to set rates effective July 1st, 2017.

First of all, let me apologize for the lateness of starting today.  That's my own -- I will take full responsibility for that, and I apologize.
Procedural Matters:


According to the hearing schedule, before we get into that there is a few preliminary issues, so one was the hearing schedule, and yesterday we brought up the panel and we did argument-in-chief.  I assume that the order of cross-examination is the same as planned?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  [Microphone not activated]  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Sekhal?  Thank you.

I'd also asked at the end of yesterday if there could be a discussion regarding potential dates for arguments and that.  Was there any fruition in that discussion?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The parties and staff have had an opportunity to confer --


MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- and we would propose a schedule for argument that would have undertaking responses filed and argument-in-chief filed this Friday, October 6th.  Staff would file their submissions October 19th, intervenors with their submissions the following Monday, October 23rd, and reply two weeks later, November 6th.

MS. DUFF:  And the parties agreed to that?  Okay.  I see nods.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Now, Mr. Vellone, are there any -- obviously we still have the other portion of this hearing to deal with with respect to pole attachments and microFIT charges.  Are there any blackout dates regarding -- from you or your witnesses if we were to have some -- convene some oral phase of this proceeding?

MR. VELLONE:  I would need to confer with my panel to figure out which witnesses I would need for those issues.  I have a blackout date which is driving the argument in-chief, frankly.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  And -- that's great, so as long as you can confer with staff and communicate those dates.  We don't need to discuss it now.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  But we do really need to put our minds to how we are going to hear that portion, whether it's written or oral, of the proceeding.

Are there any other preliminary matters from any of the parties?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We do have a response to Undertaking J1.4, which is the shareholder direction, and we will mark that as Exhibit K2.1, and --
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  RESPONSE TO UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4.

MR. VELLONE:  The Panel should have a copy of that as well.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Oh, yes.  Eureka.  It's here --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So J1.4.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  We wanted to get that in today so if anyone has follow-up questions on it they can do so after having a chance to review.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MR. VELLONE:  I do have one correction to the transcript from yesterday.  It does identify Mr. Bacon as part of panel 2.  As you can see, Mr. Bacon is not part of panel 2.

MS. DUFF:  And you are going to review the confidential portion of that transcript?

MR. VELLONE:  It has been done.  The confidential portion has been circulated only to the individuals in this room, and the public transcript is already available.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, wonderful, thank you very much.  Very efficient.  Okay, Ms. Khoo, I think you are next for cross-examining panel number 2.
INNPOWER CORPORATION - PANEL 2, resumed

Walter Malcolm,
Jennifer Cowles,
Brenda Pinke,

Michael Davison,

Daryn Thompson; Previously Affirmed
Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo:

MS. KHOO:  Good morning.  To start off with, more of an overarching question, which is, given that there seems to have been multiple corrections, updates, to various pieces of the DSP, so, for example, Mr. Malcolm mentioned yesterday the 2.284 million, there was some discussion at the technical conference at Undertakings JT1.2, given all these that have been kind of done piecemeal along the way, are you -- or are there any plans to file an amended version of the entire DSP just so all the changes are accounted for in one place?

MR. THOMPSON:  After the technical conference we discussed what the best method was to address the issues, and we provided all of the updated tables as part of the undertaking.  We have not had further discussions about updating the plan.

MS. KHOO:  And in terms of the changes so far, they have just been on the view of numbers, and not -- they haven't gone to your methodology, for instance?

MR. THOMPSON:  There was one or two changes in section 1 relating to the load forecast and the system peak, and there was changes in the DSP relating to the organization of projects that were moved from system service to system access, and the totals in those columns were adjusted.

There was one concession to staff about the use of the phrase "reliability improvement", and we acknowledged what it actually meant was avoiding reliability reductions, and there have been no other changes of any sort suggested to the DSP.

MS. KHOO:  And so far all of these have been done through separate undertakings; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, each table has been edited as an undertaking.

MS. KHOO:  So I am wondering if it wouldn't be useful to have an updated DSP so they are all in one place and you can see the cumulative impact and just have that final product and know it's the best, most recent information.

MR. VELLONE:  So that's a --


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  -- that's a pretty big undertaking to do.  But I am thinking about what the parties might need, to be helpful.  What has been done to date is an update of the Appendix 2AB that shows both historical and forecasted capital expenditures in all four categories, as well as system O&M, so that there is an understanding around the request for relief.

If you want more information on the test-year capital expenditures and the detailed material capital projects, I believe that could be something that's reasonably easy to do, because things just moved between categories.  Things did not get cut.

But I am not sure how much more of the DSP document needs to be refreshed except for the portion that ties to rates.  Just --


MS. DUFF:  Any other parties want to comment on this request?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I had a line of questioning about whether the DSP and the projections and the custom IR application were still valid.  My understanding is that -- from the technical conference is that Mr. Malcolm is going to start a process of reviewing all this stuff next year and it may result in a new DSP.  But it's a complex process that involves changing their strategic direction maybe and things like that, reorganizing the company.  It's a lot of things going on.

And I think that if we get more -- some sort of update right now that's more than just the test year, I think that's not helpful to us.  It's going to be wrong when it's done, I think.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Djurdjevic?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Staff does not have a position.  We also did have some questions about the pacing and prioritization of projects beyond 2017, so I am inclined to agree with Mr. Shepherd that we may be seeing a new plan sometime in the future that is more comprehensive and paced as staff would like to see.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Khoo, do you know need a decision right now?  I would like to confer with my Panel.  Are you prepared to --


MS. KHOO:  No, I don't need a decision.

MS. DUFF:  -- account numbers or -- okay.  I mean, I just remind you that this is a 2017 cost of service that we are deciding, and the information that Mr. Vellone was saying about the projects for the test year are very important, and the DSP informs us over the, really, incentive rate-making period.

All right.  So just, there is no undertaking at this point, and maybe at the break we will discuss that and provide an answer.  Please continue.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So could you please move to page 4 of the compendium.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So I will just make this an exhibit.  This is a separate compendium on capital expenditures for VECC and --


MS. DUFF:  Did we assign it yesterday?

MS. KHOO:  I don't think so.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  No, this is a separate compendium.  This will be Exhibit K2.2, and we will pass up some copies to the Panel.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2 ON CAPITAL EXPENDITURES.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  The Panel now has the document.  Please proceed.

MS. KHOO:  So my first question is, did the witnesses have a chance to review this page?

MS. DUFF:  When did the witnesses get this document?

MR. VELLONE:  We received this on the evening -- eleven o'clock in the evening before Monday, so we have had it for 24 hours.  I haven't had a chance to confer with them because they have been sworn since then.  So perhaps if counsel could just explain and walk us through what it is, the witnesses can answer as best they can.

MS. KHOO:  Sure. So what this is it's a series of tables done by Mr. Garner, consultant to VECC, that are supposed to capture the changes in capital expenditures net of contributions based on the various iterations of appendix 2AA that have been filed throughout the course of this proceeding.

The different versions of 2AA are also in the compendium; they follow this page, so you can refer to them.  There is the original one of June 2016.  Then there is an amended one from in November 2016.  There is amended one from May 2017, and then the most recent undertaking, I believe, after the technical conference was filed on September 20th.

So this is Mark's attempt to capture all of them, so we can just see them in one place.

My next question was going to be to ask the witnesses if they felt this accurately captured those changes.  But I don't know if you can answer that at this time, or...

MR. VELLONE:  If those are the questions on the next three tables, maybe what we can do is give the witnesses the break to actually check them, if you want the confirmation.

MS. KHOO:  That's fine with me.

MR. VELLONE:  So we’ll come back to this; that would be the suggestion.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MS. KHOO:  So in that case, can you please turn to page 22.  This is InnPower's response to undertaking JT1.5 and I just wanted to ask if given that this is the information up to July 30th and we are now entering October, would it be possible to provide updated numbers to account until end of September?

MR. VELLONE:  I guess I am just trying to wrap my head around what additional value that adds.  Are we setting -- is the proposal to set rates based on actuals as opposed to forecasts?  Is that where we are going with this?

MS. DUFF:  My concern is also this is the last day of the hearing.  So to get an undertaking response that would change these numbers, I mean, I am just questioning that value.  So, in particular, could you just restate what you're requesting?  You wanted to update…

MS. KHOO:  To update the table.

MS. DUFF:  The whole table up to?

MS. KHOO:  End of September.

MR. VELLONE:  This is to July 30th, 2017, currently, seven out of twelve months.

MS. DUFF:  Do you even have September data?

MS. COWLES:  We would not have September data, not for another two or three weeks.  We would -- potentially August, but I don't even know if they -- this happens after all of our reconciliations are done for the month.  Then we go and do all the capital for them, and I don't think that's even going to be available.

MS. DUFF:  I was just wondering.  So August is potentially not available as being final, so that's July.  I think the witnesses are saying they can't do it.

MS. KHOO:  That's fine.  And then the next question I had was about -- sorry, hang on.  Okay.

So if you could turn to page 10 -- and this might be revisited with the tables earlier, but I think can be discussed independently of them.  Based on the technical conference, there are five -- and you can tell me if this is wrong.  It seems there are five re-poling projects that were moved from system service to system access and that accounted for 2.284 million in contributions.  Is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, there were five projects moved from system service to system access, and the contribution portion on those five projects is the 2.284 million.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then so this -- on page 10, appendix 2AA, it's labelled May 2017, but I think it's the September version because the final number is the 4.404 million at the very bottom, which is on page 14.

But when I was looking through this version, I couldn't find the re-poling project, at least not the way they were laid out in earlier versions.  So I was wondering if it was renamed, or if I just missed something.

MS. COWLES:  We are just going to take a moment to confirm, but those five re-poling projects should have been moved up to base 4, which is our subdivision where we put all our economic evaluations and contributions that relate to them.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the projects are on the first page, page 10, and they are in the total, the $3,496,000 total, which is a project known as base 4 subdivision work orders.

MS. DUFF:  Could you just describe for the panel again what's base 1, 2, 3, and 4 just for the record, and why you would reallocate it, why it would have a specific line item before, but now it’s in base 4?

MS. COWLES:  This is primarily for accounting purposes, to be able to do the financial aspects of different types of jobs.

So the four base are not capital request projects.  They are projects that come up during the year that some are internal works with zero contribution against them, but they are unexpected, they are unplanned.  And then we have base 2, 3 and 4, which are varying degrees of contributions against them.  They might be Simcoe County works, the town works where they are contributing part of the material, labour and subcontractors, so we would have different contributions rates.  We separate them into those buckets.

So those are project categories and then we have underlying jobs within those categories.  So it's all based on what the contribution -- what the allocation of contribution is, whether they get put into base 2, 3 or 4.  So base 4 is where we have our subdivisions and anything related to economic evaluations.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, so to restate, I could have something in base 4 and it's listed as a line item as a project?

MR. DAVISON:  No, it would be included in base 4.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry, yes, thank you, you stated it better than I did.  So 1, 2 and 3 and 4 is the total?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Then you can break that out in terms of subaccounts or projects?

MS. COWLES:  Developments or different projects we have been asked to do.  So when these projects move from system service into system access, in system service they were identified as individual projects that we had planned for.  And then in base 4, they were grouped together.

So the base 4 line has the project amount, and the corresponding contributions in this table are down on the contribution line.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  Now scrolling to the bottom of page 22, and probably zooming in somewhat, I'm looking at the last two columns, and just as a point of clarification, the second last column, 2017 budget net at 6.7 million, and then 2017 year end forecast at 5.097 million.  I am wondering how these numbers relate to each other and also how they relate to the total for 2017 and Appendix 2AA of the 4.404 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  The first column that's titled "2017 budget net" is the total number of projects that have ever been listed in 2017.  The total, 6 -- sorry, 6-million-711, we have been reviewing this table and trying to find it.  I suspect that should be 6.689 and that there is a $22,000 difference somewhere, and we will try to figure it out.

Whether the original table in the DSP should have been 6711 in the first place or whether it's this table that there is a math error in that we can't find, but that is meant to be the same total that was projected from the very beginning as the budget for 2017.

The next column is the 2017 year-end forecast net, and that's built up of the work that's been completed to date, the contracts that have been executed and not funded, and the work that is still planned for the rest of the year.  And as you can see, that adds up to 5-million-1, call it five-one.

So what's relevant about that is that the six-seven or the six-six-six-eight number is the number that we ended up deducting the two in capital contributions from, and if we had done that that would have worked out to the 4-million-4 that shows up on the other tables.

This table was a response to the question, what assurance can we give that we are going to spend the capital money that we have been budgeted to spend, and what it actually shows is that we are $600,000 above that budget if things continue to go as the year has gone.

So it does show some projects that have not gone ahead, and there's reasons for each of those, and some projects that have gone ahead, particularly the subdivision development.  And the net on the scale is ahead of the budget, which was the answer to the question, will we spend the money, and the answer is yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then at the bottom of the same page with the highlighted rows, where it says "grand total, including cumulative works in progress of 2.418 million", is that the total amount that InnPower has both spent and committed to spending as of July 30th, 2017?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is the amount that is -- I referred to the total as being made up of three components, and that's two of them.  So that is the component that is spent and that is committed, and the rest of it is forecast.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, and then if you could go to the bottom of page 24 --


MS. DUFF:  So what's the status of the $600,000 differential?  You were just addressing the question of whether that was a -- where you stood relative to your evidence, and the application is still for the bridge net number?

MR. THOMPSON:  So the application is for the original budget.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Which is the six-six-eighty minus the 2.2 for 4.4.  The evidence -- this is evidence to answer the question of, are we on target to spend it.  So, yes, we feel that we are.

MS. DUFF:  And that differential is the 600,000?  How would your characterize that?

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, every year the capital plan ebbs and flows a little bit relative to budget, and this year it's a little high, so there will probably be a project at the end of the year that gets deferred or -- but the point is that the work is being done and the money is needed.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, please continue.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, so I just want to make sure that I understand this base 4 table.  Under what's -- where it says "additional base 4 projects on track to be completed in 2017", is it Friday Harbour Phase 1 was the original plan, then you changed it, and now it's revised Friday Harbour Phase 1 without the station, so it's just that second line that's in the numbers, and that first Friday Harbour line is just for reference?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  And to be clear on this table -- we corrected this yesterday -- that $7,800,000 project, that is energized.

MS. KHOO:  Could you please turn to page 26 next.  So first, could you confirm if the final amounts in Table 2.8A are the closing balances of contributions for each year?

MS. COWLES:  No, this is the amended application in May.  So we did a revision as a result of the technical conference, so there'd be an additional 2.284 in the contribution line.

MS. KHOO:  Right, okay.  And then now going on to the next page, so this is in response -- I am looking at the response to 2-VECC-6 showing actual contributions as well as forecast contributions.  And it seems the majority of contributions here fall under system access, with a small amount coming in under general plant of about $40,000.

And so I was wondering what was the source of the contributions that fell under general plant?

MS. COWLES:  That was the year of the building, and we had government contributions under the HPNC.

MS. PINKE:  High performance new construction.

MS. COWLES:  High performance new construction.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.

Sorry, my computer seems to be freezing on me.

Okay.  So, but if -- staying here, I just wanted to clarify some numbers.  So here there's total capital contributions for 2017 -- are shown as negative 1.869 million, and this is the same total number that was in earlier Appendix 2AA's iterations.

If you go to page 28, so just the next page, there's an updated table from the undertaking.  And then the total here is now negative 4.153 million.

So is that right that those are the same number, the 1.8 got updated to 4.1?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's right, that's the extra 2.4.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And this is the 2.284?

MR. THOMPSON:  2.24.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And this is what refers to the five re-poling projects that were moved to -- okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So now turning to page 31.  And then -- so the point -- the issue here is forecast growth.  And given there was some discussion during the technical conference about changes in forecast growth, and in addition to this response itself, could you provide an updated version of the table on the page before, which is Figure 1-3 from Exhibit 1, with updated numbers in terms of forecast new customers?

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe it would be helpful just to put the table that's being asked to be updated into context to give the witnesses an opportunity to do that, because there, frankly, are two different forecasting methodologies used in different places.  I just want to understand what the purpose of the update is.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Khoo, can you just explain that?

MS. KHOO:  Sorry, to put the table into context?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, the reason you need the one table updated to correspond to the other one --


MS. KHOO:  Right.

MS. DUFF:  -- the capital expenditures, the need to have that.

MS. KHOO:  It just seemed that during the discussions that the -- a lot of the application seemed to do with the aggressive housing developments and predicted growth in InnPower -- in the area, and there's been some discussions about how once numbers started coming in, it seemed that growth was not as aggressive as maybe was expected and there have been some updates made in there.

So we thought it would be useful to have a more updated picture and maybe the growth would not be as aggressive as originally thought.

MS. DUFF:  Are there implications perhaps on revenue?

MS. KHOO:  For example.

MR. VELLONE:  So the load forecast has been updated and filed by Mr. Bacon.  So to the extent there is an implication on revenue there, that's been done.  The methodology used actuals, except for the last four months, and then the forecast is only the last four months.

The evidence on the record to date is that the growth that has been seen in the service territory has been much more aggressive, not slower than expected.  They originally forecasted 184,000 in base 4 expenditures this year; they are now closing in on about 2 million, net of contributions.

The developments are happening fast and the housing sales are just going faster than expected.  So the trend is in the other direction.

MS. DUFF:  Do the witnesses adopt that answer?

MR. THOMPSON:  As Mr. Davison commented in his opening remarks, 2,000 units are sitting in Innisfil waiting for customers to move in.  The subdivision agreements are signed.  I have seen subdivisions turn around in 12 weeks from fields to houses.  This one is a bigger one; it probably goes a little slower than that.

But the projection for 2016, '17, and '18, even accounting for a bit of a slowdown with the drywall strike last year, is around 2,000 units.  I don't see any reason that this table would even be substantially different at the end of the day.  None of it affects the system plan; these houses are there.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you for that.  Now if you can turn to page 35 of the compendium, the first question is that given the aggressive growth that we have been discussing, have you taken into account potential difficulties arising from system access plans that might disrupt or hinder other aspects of the capital plan?

MR. THOMPSON:  Could you clarify that question for me?

MS. KHOO:  Well, okay.  So from what I understand or how it was explained, it seems that with the aggressive housing development that might result in system access plans being disruptive to other parts of a utility's capital plan.  So I was just inquiring was that a concern, was that taken into account?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  If you look at the system renewal lines, each of them are quite a bit lower than the future forecast, and that is largely because of that.  The system access work is taking place first with the hope that it renews the right plant, that we are getting a value for that.  But then moving into years when system access expenditures are lower, then system renewal will go back on the table.

MS. KHOO:  And that was my next question, too, so thank you.  Okay, now I will move on to -- I have questions for Mr. Thompson about the asset condition assessment.

So could you please turn to page 44 of the compendium?  I had some questions about the methodology, and just to confirm, it seems what you did was you looked at particular asset classes and then you set out a list of criteria by which to assess each asset in the class, assigned a particular weight to each criteria in the list, and then you examined asset conditions according to that list of weighted criteria.  Is that right?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is the process, yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So to take underground cables, for example, and this is on page 49 -- sorry, I meant 50.  That's not true either.  Okay.

MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe 52?

MS. KHOO:  No, but that's okay.  Yes, 48 actually; sorry, I don't know how that happened.  I am looking at table 23.  So just to show you set out these five criteria for underground cables and then assigned a particular weight to each of these.

Could you explain how you decided how much weight you accorded to each criteria?  So for example, why is age given a three and why is historic failure rate given an eight?

MR. THOMPSON:  The simple answer is that if you know the cable is failing, you care much less about its age.  So it becomes a driving factor.

The more complicated answer is that ACA parameters and formulation are a matter of some debate; they are more art than science.  There are best practice guides for the evaluation of distribution assets.  I have written some of them.

We apply our experience -- I say we in this case as METSCO, the author of ACA which I announced in my introduction.  I wrote this document.  So as experts at METSCO, we are relied upon for our opinion as to what a good balanced asset health formulation is.  We used other published metrics.  We watch for people's health index summaries that are published on the OEB website, among others, and we basically decide what the most important drivers are.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Then moving back up to page 46, you have here two forms of asset condition -- sorry, age condition rating.  There is what I suppose is the one that you would normally use, and then one that's InnPower adjusted.  So I was wondering if you could explain more about that distinction, or why you felt the need to have both of them.

MR. THOMPSON:  InnPower has traditionally used a number that's about five years older for their cables than the best practice guides have been suggesting.  And we felt that on the whole, it wasn't worth changing that policy for the purpose of the ACA, so we reported both numbers, to some degree and to force this conversation.  If InnPower were to decide to move their numbers forward to more typical numbers in future years, we would like to have a little bit of support that says that that is the industry best practice.

MS. KHOO:  And now if you could turn to page 50, please?  So this section and the following sections are extracted from the METSCO report descriptions of how you calculated the health index of various asset classes.  And then it shows that for some of them, it seems that they were predominantly assessed based on age information only, unlike the underground cables, which seem to rely on a variety of criteria.

So on this page it's primary conductors, and then on the following pages we have overhead conductors, and then there's underground primary conductors, for instance.

So my first question on that is did you use age information only because that was the only information available?

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, for which asset are you referring to?  Are you referring to wood poles?

MS. KHOO:  Sure, we can go through each of them.  So on -- well, on this page it would be primary -- because I don't believe wood poles was just age, right?  It was also --


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, which page are you on?

MS. KHOO:  I am on page 50.  So let's say --


MR. THOMPSON:  It says wood poles.

MS. KHOO:  Oh, okay.  Let's go to the next page then, which is page 51, and this is overhead conductors, and that appears to have been based on age information only.  So for this, for example, was it because that was the only information available?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  There's a number of reasons for that I could go into, but the answer to your question is yes.

MS. KHOO:  Sure, what are the reasons?

MR. THOMPSON:  So an overhead conductor is basically a metal strand.  There is very little you can do to test it.  There are things that are known about types of metal strands.  Obviously some are more brittle than others, some are more likely to fail due to heat exposure and things like that.  But generally speaking, utilities have a single type of overhead conductor through their system, and that conductor has characteristics similar to all other conductors of the same type.

We will go to utilities and find, say, for instance, very small copper conductors in some area, so that would be a data point for that conductor that might get a score relative to the likelihood of that conductor becoming brittle and failing.

In the case of overhead conductors of the type that's at InnPower, there isn't any useful testing, there isn't any useful strength testing, it's really -- that you want to do in the field, it's really a measure of age.  That said, this is an unusual asset, because overhead conductors are tracked as an asset, and we keep an eye on them to make sure that they are not aging and risking problems, but generally speaking, you don't do a project because your conductors are old.  Conductors get replaced when poles get replaced.  They generally outlive poles.

About the only case that wouldn't happen is if you did a lot of spot replacements of poles and then came back 20 years later and realized that your conductor was now the life of a pole plus 20 years old.  That's not happening in InnPower.

MS. KHOO:  And would that similarly apply to underground primary conductors, or are there different -- actually, I guess there would be different circumstances there.

MR. THOMPSON:  There are different circumstances, and distribution engineers all over are longing for a useful method to test underground cables.  They are an expensive asset.  Nobody wants to replace them if they don't have to, and it would be wonderful to be able to tell what their condition is.

So far the best methods of testing underground cables involves destroying the cables.  The useful way to do that is to wait for a cable to fail, replace it, take that section of cable, slice it up, and test it.  That will hopefully tell you something about that type of cable that is that age.

As we have talked about before in other evidence, InnPower hasn't had a lot of failures of underground cables, so they don't have a lot of data points on that.

When you assess underground cables in a health index the first thing you look at is age, then you look at the type of cables, so we know, for instance, cables installed before 1992 are a different construction method -- generally speaking, 1992 -- are a different construction method than those installed prior to it, before and after.  Tree retardant installation came in at that time.

We also know that PILC cables in underground duct and manhole systems in downtown Toronto have lasted very long times, whereas the rubber and the plastic tends to degrade over time.

We also know that loading factors on cables -- for instance, primary cables that are heavily loaded heat up, and that changes the plastics and the rubbers.  That can affect the cables.  None of that really applies in the lightly loaded underground residential subdivisions of InnPower, and so what we end up with is limited data points other than the age.

However, when we start seeing failures, then we will have a brand-new data point, and those failures will become the driver.  When we start seeing failures in cables you'll start getting lots.  You don't just get one or two.  They all age at the same time and go.

So that would be a second data point that would then become very important.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  And then for assets where you did rely on more than age data, so just pole-mounted transformers and wood poles, I believe, as well, did your assessment or weighting take into account the depth of the particular testing that was applied to that asset?  So for example visual inspection alone versus a physical test versus the type of physical test, and was that incorporated into the weighting and assessment?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, and when I speak to the art of asset condition assessment, that's very much where that applies.  There's still a lot of information to be gleaned by going out and looking at a pole.  It tells you stuff about the pole.  But then we have testing methodologies that allow us to test at the ground level or at different heights.

Even the testing methodologies are very inconsistent.  It's very easy to test a pole as being in good condition, where you can reach it, only to have it rot off at the neutral or the top of the pole.  All of these methods are put into place.

The formula that's used to generate a health index, an ultimate score for the poles, is heavily weighted with "if" statements, so if we know the strength of the pole we rely more on that.  If we don't know the strength of the pole and we have a test point that says it hasn't failed yet, then we rely somewhat on that.

The problem with a pail -- a pole that has not failed is that we don't know how close to failing it is.  It is like when you get your brakes checked and they tell you they are fine.  You would really rather know how many miles you have left on them.  And the same with the pole.  It is fine, but it is still 70 years old.

So to some degree we take that into consideration as well and we say a pole that is 70 years old but tested as fine, we can't give that a very good score, we have to give it something in the middle.

MS. KHOO:  And then for your assessment of the various asset classes, the data that went into your assessment, did you rely on raw data given to you by InnPower or their staff or did you and your associates collect that?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is asset-dependent.  For this -- you have been talking largely about distribution assets.  That's largely poles, conductors, pole-mounted transformers, underground cables, pad-mounted switch gear.  For the station assets, of which there's a dozen, 13 stations, our staff on a contract basis actually went into each station and collected data, and there's survey forms and photographs, and all of those are attached to the DSP.

So in those cases we have quite regimented and useful visual data, we have test data, we have oil samples, gas and oil samples, and that data is highly reliable, and so the station condition assessment document is very data-heavy.

The distribution assets, given that there is 10,000 poles and the testing methodology is only just okay, and the inspection cycle is every six years, not every three months, there's a lot more assumption and a lot more extrapolation, a lot more reliance on age.

But to the same point, when you select a pole line for replacement you don't say, well, I have got a 60-year-old pole line and therefore I am going to replace it, you do go out and look at it.  And each time you replace a pole line it's based on what you understand about intimate research into that particular line.

MS. KHOO:  So to clarify, the substation data was METSCO Associates, and then for distribution assets due to their volume and -- you relied more on InnPower staff to collect the data for distribution assets.

MR. THOMPSON:  InnPower staff and contractors that InnPower hires as part of their operations and maintenance budget.

MS. KHOO:  And given it seems the level of rigour that you applied to the station assets data yourself, did you then subject the data that you received on the distribution assets to, I guess, that level of auditing or validating?

MR. THOMPSON:  We scrubbed the data.  So we handled it from the data side.  We did not check the data.  We didn't go in the field and check and see if a crack was really a crack.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Now, if you could turn to page 58 of the compendium.  This is also new, so I am not sure if it should be marked or...

MR. VELLONE:  This is an extract of an OEB decision.  We are not going to object to it.

MS. DUFF:  It looks familiar.  And I didn't mean to be sarcastic.

MS. KHOO:  Oh, so we are not marking it; okay.

So the question I just had here was, this is an excerpt from an earlier Board decision for Thunder Bay Hydro in May 2017.  So what this table is, it's a table by Kinectrics, which assessed and quantified what they considered to be data gaps when it came to assessing asset condition, so they attempted to set out and quantify wherever the data used to assess asset conditions was less than adequate or otherwise unavailable.

So my question is if METSCO undertook any similar analysis of the data that was available or not available in undertaking your asset condition assessment?

MR. THOMPSON:  Section 4 of the asset condition assessment is the section that gives the charts and gives all of the results, and each one of those sections has a statement on each asset about the data availability for that asset.  It's somewhat summary level.  But it's in there.

The discussions about the specific methods for collecting data took place directly with InnPower staff and -- but wasn't included in the ACA.  It's a useful table.  I might adopt something in the future.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  I just have one last issue, and this was about the matter of Degrassi Cove, so off the ACA now.  I wanted to follow up on some of the discussion from the technical conference that happened between witnesses and SEC, as was Mr. Garner.  So if you can turn to page 65 of the compendium?

So there was some discussion about the actual population or structures that would be served by the Degrassi Cove project, and it seemed by the end of the technical conference, where we stood was a general estimate of 13 mansions by the lake was the general impression.

So I was wondering if anyone went away after and confirmed anything about that.

MR. DAVISON:  Could you repeat your question?

MS. KHOO:  Yes.  I just was wondering if anyone had followed up on the Degrassi Cove question from the technical conference in terms of, I guess, even confirming is it 13 mansions by the lake, is it 11, is it a different assortment of dwellings, just to get more of a picture of who will be served there and the nature of the project.

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, I am in your hands as to how long you want to spend on this line of questioning.  The project isn't planned to occur until the last couple of years of the five-year DSP for Degrassi Cove.  There is nothing in the test year.  There is nothing in 2018 either.  So we are in your hands as to how much you want to hear about this.

MS. KHOO:  I will just say that was my only question on it, but that it was relevant because it might be done by the time we come in next time and then it would be too late.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, if I can be of assistance? There is an aerial photograph of Degrassi Cove at the end of our compendium, K1.5.

MR. DAVISON:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd, that is what I was going to refer to.

MS. DUFF:  Page 71 of SEC's compendium.  K1.5, is that what we are looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 69, 70 and 71.

MR. DAVISON:  Just to make sure we have answered the question, yes, we have been out there.  In fact, I went out personally to take a look at it because I was curious about it.  Being a new staff member, I wanted to actually witness it myself.

So, yes, some of our customers are out there, and there's tree growth.  In fact, last weekend we even had an outage or a trouble call that some -- because of a tree occurrence.  So there is tree issues out there and we need to stay on top of that maintenance, for sure.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, and I believe that's everything.  Just going back to the tables earlier, because it's possible that those were answered throughout the course of this, in which case I would be done completely.  So I am just going to take a moment to check that.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Keon, you are doing an excellent job. Thank you.

MS. KHOO:  Yeah, I think the majority of them had to do with clarifications around the re-poling and the 2.284, and that’s been covered. So those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  So do you no longer need them to confirm the numbers on this page?  That's not necessary for your…

MS. KHOO:  I guess for accuracy's sake, if you want to confirm whether they are correct or not, that would be good to know.  But in terms of my questioning, I think I have what I need.

MS. DUFF:  We will leave it at that then, okay.  Thank you very much.  Do you want to take our morning break?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am happy to -- I am in your hands, of course, but I have about three minutes of questions on Degrassi Cove, which I could finish off right now if you want.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is in the nature of a friendly cross, I think, and I probably should have told my friend that I was going to do this, but I don't think she will object.

Degrassi Cove is this enclave beside the marina, right?  You saw it.

MR. DAVISON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we included pictures including the tennis court in one of them, and things like that.  These are not small houses, right?

MR. DAVISON:  You are correct in saying that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the implication at the technical conference was that you were -- in your planning, you were preferring the rich people as opposed to spending your money on Sandy Cove Acres and places like that, where there's a lot more people but they have less money.  And that was sort of how we left it, and you were getting grief for that.

It's true, isn't it, though, that in your distribution system plan, although in 2021 you are spending money on Degrassi Cove to underground those overhead lines, it's also true that from 2019 to 2021, you're replacing the already undergrounded cables at Sandy Cove Acres because they are direct-buried and you are having some reliability issues.  Is that not correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if fairness, if you look at your DSP, it does appear that you are not preferring the people with money.  You are just getting the job done when it has to get done.  Is that fair?

MR. THOMPSON:  In fact, it would be fair to say we are spending about ten times as much at Sandy Cove Acres as we were proposing at Degrassi Cove.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We had left the wrong impression at the technical conference, and I actually was going to give them more grief today, and then I realized I was wrong.

MS. DUFF:  Every day is a surprise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So why don't we take our morning break for 15 minutes, and we’ll rejoin at five to the hour, thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:38 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:04 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.
Preliminary Matters:


Are there any preliminary matters, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  Just one.  I believe the witnesses have had an opportunity to review the tables at page 4 of the VECC compendium for capital that is Exhibit K2.2.

MR. THOMPSON:  We reviewed the numbers on that table and we were able to confirm them.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

The Panel also used the break to confer and make a decision regarding the potential undertaking regarding an update of the distribution system plan.  The OEB, the Panel, will not require that document to be updated.  We do not find that it is necessary for us to make a decision regarding the two-17 -- 2017 cost-of-service application.

However, the issue that Ms. Khoo had raised in referencing back to the evidence raised another concern of the Panel's, and one thing that we feel that we need is the revenue-requirement work form set of -- that entire document that was updated, I think it was on the September 20th, 2017?  Ms. Cowles?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, that is when it was updated.

MS. DUFF:  And that document, as I understand it, has all of the numbers updated, a complete set all aligned, in terms of what your ask is for this application.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, it does.

MS. DUFF:  Subject to any changes that would happen today, but I can't --


MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- without foreseeing that.

What the Panel would need, is asking for, is references back to the source of those numbers.  Ms. Khoo is talking about document numbers that actually referred back to the original application, not the May 6th update, not the other update.  The Panel is concerned with, aside from just having the right numbers, but having the evidentiary portion aligned to the support for each one of those numbers matched up to the evidence.

Do you want to think about what you could provide the Panel to provide that reference that we are seeking?  And Ms. Pinke, please.  I am looking at both.

MS. PINKE:  You are referencing primarily the RRWF model, or are we talking all the models?

MS. DUFF:  I think the RWF model is the source.

MS. PINKE:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I am looking at that as the one aggregation of all of the numbers aligned, the culmination since November 26th, 2016 of where we are today, but it's referencing back to where in the evidence that supports that number.  It's not always -- it has a number of different dates; do you agree?

MS. PINKE:  I definitely do agree.

MS. DUFF:  So this is something that I want you to consider, and the Board would think that that could -- I don't know the time required, but if that could accompany your argument-in-chief.

MR. VELLONE:  So by Friday.

MS. DUFF:  So why don't you -- I am mentioning it now so you can think about the work involved and the date that you think you could produce that.

Do you have any questions regarding what the Board is looking for?

MS. PINKE:  If I understand you correctly, so if I find a data source on RRWF, where in the evidence was it provided both in other models or Chapter 2 appendices and then the write-ups.

MS. DUFF:  Mm-hmm.  Like, footnotes, whatever, that could assist you in helping that identification.

MS. PINKE:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Helping us with that identification.

MS. PINKE:  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, if I could just add, you know, the challenge is there have been a number of updates, and so for us to look at those models that have all the numbers, where is the description that follows it?  Where do we have to go?  Do we go to the November original application?  There's something in the DSP.  Do we go to an undertaking, do we go to an interrogatory response?  That's a major challenge for us.  And so we are asking you to assist with that.

MR. VELLONE:  Foreseen into the future, a bunch of them are cited back to the evidentiary record.  What would you like us to do if there's gaps?  Looking into the future, trying to figure out what to do.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I guess we will see what you file, and if we don't think it's sufficient we will ask for more.  I can't -- I am not going to sit here and think, gee, what if?  Let's see what you have first.  And I'm talk -- not every single number.  Obviously the main line items, you know, is requiring -- the other concern for the Panel is that we have a decision that's based on an error in fact that we have the wrong reference.  I mean, that's a danger and a risk that we are trying to protect ourselves against.

Okay, so thank you very much.

Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to proceed?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you going to give that an undertaking number or --


MS. DUFF:  Actually, the intent was that it would be filed with argument-in-chief.


Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I first have a couple of questions on J1.4, and thank you, applicant, for filing this so promptly so that we could ask questions.  I just have a couple of questions on that.

This is the shareholder declaration.  And it's several years old, I guess.  Actually, it's 2000; right?  So this is the original shareholder declaration?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct; it's the original.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So on page 8 of that declaration -- I am not going to go through it.  I just -- I have just a couple of questions.  On page 8 it says that you are required, you, InnPower, are required to do a business plan every year by November 2nd and deliver it to the treasurer of the town; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And, now -- and then the treasurer of the town has 30 days to basically make a report to council on your business plan; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, there is no approval mechanism, but presumably council, if they don't like your business plan, would have something to say.

MR. MALCOLM:  There's no approval process.  Starting  -- I started in 2016, so I am not aware of any time that council has rejected the budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what we have in the application is, in fact, a business plan that's -- it's Appendix K of Exhibit 1, which is 2016 to 2020.  So that would have been filed in -- that would have been provided to the town in October 2015; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  In 2015; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so there's another one subsequent to that?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, there's not.  What we did was through our budget process we changed how we formulated the budget for our board of directors, which also transposed into how we present to the shareholder at the AGM.

So there was changes based on that that was approved by the board of directors and also conferred by the shareholders that we can proceed in that manner.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this shareholder direction has been amended?

MR. MALCOLM:  It hasn't been amended yet.  One of the tasks that the board of directors has received from the shareholder was for me as the president and CEO to go over the shareholder's agreement since it is dated, as well as the governance of the board of directors, and then provide that to the shareholder at some point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So meanwhile with the consent of the shareholder you are not complying with this as it's written, you are doing it differently.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And the way you are doing it differently is you did do a business plan last fall; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  What we did was a strategic direction based on our cost of service, as well as the business needs of the 2017 requirements for the budget.  So it wasn't a formalized business plan.  We sought direction from the board in regards to, since I started late in the year, if there was a possibility of delaying that business plan for November into a following time frame.  The board of directors agreed to that, as well as the shareholders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have a current five-year business plan.

MR. MALCOLM:  We do not have a current one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the one that you filed with your application, the 2016 to 2020 one, it's basically, I was going to say no longer applicable, but that's probably overstating it.  But it's certainly not the vision that you want to move going forward; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the next one, you are basically going to skip the 2016 -- 2017 to 2021 plan.  You are not doing that at all?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, what we will be working at is the 2018 to 2021.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to do one this year for the next five years.

MR. MALCOLM:  It will be an amended version similar to what we did last year, with the intention of doing the business planning in 2018 to start for 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say you did an amended version last year, you amended the 2016 to 2020 plan?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, we left the 2016 plan as is.  What we stated was these are our strategic imperatives that we need to undertake as a utility and received direction from the board of directors, as well as confirmation from the shareholders that they agree with that direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that document was some changes to your strategic direction and a 2017 budget.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that filed on the record here?

MR. MALCOLM:  Not here on the record, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any reason why it couldn't be?  It's a document, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, it's part of our budget process.  There was also a presentation in June of 2017 at the AGM that a presentation was provided to the shareholders explaining the direction that we are moving in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I am looking at the one, the document that was approved by your board of directors.

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, that's a document that we can provide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no reason -- it's not confidential or anything.  It's stuff that you have been talking about all the way through, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, I'd have to take a look to see if there's any confidential information there in regards to personnel.  But other than that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough.  Could we see that?

MS. DUFF:  An undertaking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, please.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we have the undertaking, it's J2.1.  To clarify, it's a business plan?
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE REVISED STRATEGIC DIRECTION AND 2017 BUDGET


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the revisions to the business plan that were approved by the board of directors in --


MR. MALCOLM:  What it would be would be our budget for 2017, which includes an executive summary of our strategic directive as well as the presentation that we provided to the shareholders at our annual general meeting that explain the process of how we are moving forward on our strategic imperatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is all the same things you been telling us the last couple of days, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The mind set that you are trying to apply going forward in the company?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, looking at what the utility is today, advising our board of directors as well as our shareholders as to the vision that we are moving forward in addressing those issues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if you go to the next page of your shareholder directions -- this is the last question I have on this -- you are required to do quarterly reports to the treasurer of the town of Innisfil within 45 days after the end of each fiscal quarter.  So the latest would presumably be the one for June 30th, 2017.  That's not on the record, is it?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that something you could provide?

MR. MALCOLM:  I'd have to check with our board meetings in regards to the information that's provided from our board meeting to the shareholder.  That's the avenue that we use to advise the shareholders of what's transpiring at InnPower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there's actually a written report that goes to the treasurer of the town that says for the last quarter, here's our financials and here's how we deviated from our plan.

MR. MALCOLM:  There's no written report, quarterly report to the treasurer.  It's based on our minutes that transpire at the board of directors meeting that gets referenced over to the town of Innisfil as the shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So has this changed then, because this looks like it's a written document that requires financial statements, it requires explanations.

MR. MALCOLM:  Again, they get the financial updates as to where we are as a corporation.  And again as I stated previously is that the shareholder wants a change in the declaration of the shareholder.  So we are looking at working with the shareholder to determine what is it their needs are in regards to any reports, business planning from InnPower corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I wonder if I could just ask, whatever it is that -- whatever the report was at the last quarter, whatever the most recent quarter is that's been reported, can you take a look at it and see if it has anything confidential, redact that out, and file that?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  I have one question about that request, Mr. Shepherd.  First of all, let's assign an undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO FILE A COPY OF INNPOWER'S MOST RECENT QUARTERLY REPORT TO THE TOWN OF INNISFIL, REDACTED AS REQUIRED

MS. DUFF:  Just looking at the cover page of this, please refresh my memory.  It says strategic direction to Innisfil hydro distribution systems -- which is now?

MR. MALCOLM:  InnPower Corporation.

MS. DUFF:  Who is the second company, Innisfil Energy Services Limited?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's the competitive side of our business, so it's an affiliate.

MR. VELLONE:  Is it the same as InnServices, or different?

MR. MALCOLM:  Different.

MS. DUFF:  So the update you are going to be providing?

MR. MALCOLM:  Is for the InnPower Corporation.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now I have some questions on capital, and I want to start with the building.

In the last -- I went back and looked at the transcript after yesterday to try to make sense of what I was hearing from you, and I am going to try to read back to you what I think is your approach and see whether I have got it right.

I am not reading from the transcript; I am reading from my mind, sad but true.

You have said there's a concern that this building might have been too big, might cost too much money and you can't fill it right now.  You don't have enough people for it, and it was built essentially to contemplate future growth.  So what you have done is conceptually, you have said let's split up this building into two virtual buildings; it's like splitting up a hard drive into sectors.  And 80 percent of it, let's say roughly, is what we are using now, so we will call that a building.

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And whatever the cost of that and whatever the expenses associated with that, that will go into rate base because the ratepayers are getting the benefit of that now.

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then that other 20 percent, we’ll pretend that's a separate smaller building off in the corner.  And we are not using that right now, so it's not a utility asset.

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the cost of it, 2-million-350 and the expenses associated with it, are not the ratepayers' problem right now.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are going to rent that to see if we can recover some of that cost, but that's also not the ratepayers' problem because it's not their asset yet.

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually the same building and ten years from now, we the utility might actually need that.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we do, then it's there and it hasn't cost the ratepayers anything.  It's like the ratepayers have this insurance policy or an option on more space that they done have to pay for, but it’s there when they need it.

MR. MALCOLM:  That’s correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your concept is to try to fairly separate what the ratepayers should pay for and what they shouldn't pay for right now, and that's why you think that the leasing revenues shouldn't be included as an offset in your revenue requirement.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't have a problem with any of that.  I just wanted to make sure I understood.

Let me move on to your overall capital expenditures.  And if you can go to page 66 of our compendium, which is K1.5, this is under undertaking JT1.6 and you updated a table, a capital table from 2-VECC-6.

So my first question on this -- I understand that this may not be up to date yet anymore, but my first question is:  Is this capital expenditures or capital additions, this table?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am not sure I understand what a capital addition is, but this is the same totals that are reported as the capital spend for 2007 -- for the…

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, capital expenditures include WIP, stuff that isn't going into rate base in the test year, whereas capital additions are the amounts going into rate base whether they were spent this year or a previous year.

MS. COWLES:  These are capital additions.  Our WIP balance floats up and down, but not significantly from year to year.  So this plan is our capital additions, what we plan to close out and add into our asset base for the year.  Some of that may come from the previous years, some of the amounts, but then at the end of the year, there is also a WIP balance that goes up into the future year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And you will see why I asked that question in a second.

But these numbers for 2017 and 2018, those are no longer correct, right, because Friday Harbour has now been energized?  So Friday Harbour was in 2018, and now it's in 2017, or a big chunk of it is, right?

I am not asking whether you are changing what your ask is.  I am asking whether this is correct to actuals still.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is the forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the actuals, a big chunk of that 2018 number has actually moved into 2017; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Numbers have moved in both directions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, if you take a look, for example, at page 64 of our materials, you talked about the Friday Harbour amount, which is that $7.8 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Is now in service.

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that was going to be a 2018 number; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we shouldn't see these numbers as being accurate in individual years as actuals, they are forecasts.

MR. THOMPSON:  They are forecasts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are the old forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  They are the forecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you fixed the forecast by getting the contributions right, but otherwise you haven't changed it.

MR. THOMPSON:  We have not re-examined the budgeted -- or the forecasted numbers.  We have provided year-to-date numbers on your page 62 as evidence that we are moving nicely along that path, but we have not reforecast.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, what you are anticipating is that your net cap ex this year -- not cap ex, sorry, your net additions to rate base this year net of contributions will be quite a bit in excess of what you had originally forecast.

MR. THOMPSON:  What we most recently forecast, the four-four, we are going to exceed that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and in fact, with Friday Harbour coming in you might exceed it by quite a lot.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, a lot of -- 80 percent of Friday Harbour is still contributions, right, so the numbers --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's still 2 million net.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?

MR. THOMPSON:  So there's some large pole line projects and some road widenings.  On your page 62 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- the year-to-date summary, it shows us running around $600,000 high.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And is that still what you think?

MR. THOMPSON:  That is the best numbers we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And -- but the approach you're taking is you're saying this was supposed to be a forward test year when we originally filed it, and although it's taken a little longer to get there we are still treating it like a forward test year, so we are still asking for what we forecast corrected for errors, but we are still asking for what we forecast rather than what we now expect to be the case.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why that's okay is because for the most part the stuff that -- the additional spending this year is really stuff moving back and forth between 2017 and 2018, so the impact on you is not that big anyway.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's not new projects; that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I think I understand that.

So that being the case then, I want to ask a couple of questions about the DSP.  And I guess I will start with, the custom IR application was based on the DSP; right?

MS. PINKE:  Yes, the custom IR was based on the very first version of the capital plan or the DSP.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the custom IR plan, in fact, is a more aggressive capital plan than you're currently anticipating?  That...

MS. PINKE:  It was little bit more aggressive, not about 200,000 more in a given year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In each year.

MS. PINKE:  In each year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  And part of the change that's happened is that you've got a change in philosophy now, Mr. Malcolm, which is that you're going -- as much as possible, you are going to spend when the growth is there.  You are not going to say, well, we might have this development, so let's start building.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's going to change the pacing of your spending.  In the end you are still going to spend the same money, but it's going to be paced differently because it's going to be more just in time.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that means that your DSP is going to have to change, and the reason I ask that is because we asked you that in the technical conference and you were not sure at that time.

MR. MALCOLM:  At the technical conference I wasn't sure of the date that we would be looking at the DSP, but as part of our business planning that will come up as part of our stakeholder consultation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you would currently expect that the DSP will not -- will have to change as a result of your new approach.

MR. MALCOLM:  As we investigate what's within that DSP, as well as what our customer needs are, that will change.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I asked you the question at the technical conference and I will ask you it again.  Would it be helpful to you and to the Board if once you've revised that DSP you filed it with the Board?  I know there's no mechanism to do that.  I am asking, is it still a good idea anyway?

MR. MALCOLM:  We will take that under consideration.  It will be with our board of directors as far as approving that business plan and the DSP, but we will take that under advisement as to see, is there a benefit to the Ontario Energy Board to have that filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board in its decision asks you to do that there wouldn't be a problem to do it; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, we would be directed to do it and we would follow that direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Thank you.

Now, the next area I have some questions about -- and just for a time check, Madam Chair, I am not going to be more than a half hour, if that.  In fact, 15 minutes, probably.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a system, and this is probably for you, Mr. Thompson.  You have a system in the DSP, or in the asset management plan, I guess, that is like a formula for weighting -- prioritizing things; right?  And we talked about that at the technical conference.  And it seems like a mathematical formula in which you taught me what something to the power of zero was.  I still think it's crazy, but...

And -- but it's a formula with specific weightings for specific risks and consequences and things like that; right?  You will agree that the formula has not been empirically tested, the formula has only be subjectively tested, because it is inherently a subjective formula.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what it does is it doesn't -- it doesn't add some sort of data-driven support for engineering judgment, what it adds instead is a discipline on the engineer to think things through logically and make sure that their judgment is applied in a consistent manner.

MR. THOMPSON:  That is a fair assessment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  There are methods of prioritization which are more empirical.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't believe that in a utility like this it's necessary for them to do that?

MR. THOMPSON:  So I am, as a member of METSCO, an expert on risk-based asset management, but I am not here as that.  I represent InnPower and their decisions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking for your expert opinion.  I am asking for your expert opinion -- I'm asking for your assessment as one of the team --


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- as to why InnPower should do it the particular way you're doing it.

MR. THOMPSON:  So risk-based asset management is expensive.  It requires a lot of data, and a lot of that data is somewhat judgmental in the first place:  what the cost of an outage is, what the potential for an outage is, all of that.  You end up with a very large, complex formula that at the end of the day would not give us a significantly different answer than what we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would it -- so when Ms. Khoo was asking you questions earlier, for example, about data gaps, data gaps aren't as important in the method you are using because it's more relying on judgment rather than empirical analysis?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  Every single project on the project listing that we are looking at has been looked at by an engineer, and every single one, to the degree -- I mean, certainly in the test year, has been looked at and has been identified as a project that needs to be doing, and it's not coming out of a mathematical formula, it's coming out of boots on the ground.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So a long time ago it used to be that the technical staff of a utility would drive around and look at the wires and everything and they would say, that has to be fixed next week, and that we can wait until next year, et cetera.  This is not quite that, it's more formal than that, but it's the same concept; right?

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So the difference with the asset management concept that we have is we have tried to look at the system as a whole and make sure that we are looking at the most important areas and not just driving around and finding a list of the first 400 poles that need replacing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then my last area of questions is about the double-bucket truck.  And your original -- it's a $490,000 cost; right?  It's on page 57 of our materials, if you want a reference.


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're not currently anticipating that you are going to be driving that truck around by December 31st, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you want to include it in rate base this year?


MR. MALCOLM:  The value, yes.  The value of the truck.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not going to be using it?


MR. MALCOLM:  Not using the truck.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you won’t even have the whole truck here yet, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  It's with the manufacturer for the bucket.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you did the forecast originally, you didn't expect to have the whole truck here by December 31st, right?  In the original forecast that you forecast, you said, well, we are going to have the chassis, that will be done, and we are going to include that in rate base.  But the bucket we won't get until 2018.


MR. MALCOLM:  The double bucket truck was approved at our last budget last year.  We put the order in and there was a delay in the ordering and receiving the chassis.  So at the time of last year, we are expecting to have the truck on the road.  But due to the delays in having the truck ordered, that's why it extended past 2017 and we are receiving it in the first quarter of 2018.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So consistent with your forecast approach, you are saying your forecast last November was that it would be on the road right now, in fact.


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you should include that just in the same way as you're not including the additional capital expenditures for Friday Harbour this year -- 


MR. MALCOLM:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- on a forecast basis.


MR. MALCOLM:  On a forecast, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's your argument, okay. And just let me check my list.  And I think that's it, thank you. 


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Ms. Djurdjevic?

Questions by the Board:

MS. ANDERSON:  I do have just one question.  I am trying to understand the bit of exchange, and maybe I can give you an example and you can explain how you do it.


So you have an asset condition assessment on all your poles.  You have identified those that are in poor condition, good condition, whatever.  You have identified perhaps a line that you think will be replaced, so someone's going out into the field, an engineer in the field to assess it. 


Would that assessment take into account the impact of the failure of that poor pole?  Like, you know, there could be a corner pole if it falls down you have thousands of people out, you could have a mid-span pole that if it fails, nothing happens.  So that's part of your assessment?


MR. THOMPSON:  The answer is very much so and there's evidence to that in the DSP, if you want me to refer to it.  But the answer is yes.


MS. ANDERSON:  But is that done by the judgment then of the engineer in the field, or do you have a system for identifying that impact as part of your risk assessment? 


MR. THOMPSON:  So you are talking about the consequence cost; risk is consequence times probability. Probability is the condition and the consequence is what happens if it fails. 


So the consequence for any one pole in any one pole line, with the exception of potential for the pole maybe to fall on the road or something.  But otherwise, every pole on that pole line is going to have the same consequence if it were to fail because it supplies the same customers or has the same impact on the system.


However, poles that are, for instance, 70 feet tall and have three circuits on them have a dramatically different consequence than poles that are 40 feet tall and have one circuit on it.  And if those circuits are 44 kV circuits and supplying all the substations, it ramps up again.


So is what the engineer is doing when he assigns a consequence for a particular pole line, is he is saying is this is 44 kV line that supplies the entire northeast portion of our area, and therefore it is of high consequence.  A similar pole that supplies an area, a local residence would be a medium consequence, and a single residential secondary pole would be of very low consequence. 


We have five categories that consequence fits into, but that's generally what's happening.


MS. ANDERSON:  Is there a number assigned to those consequences, or again that's just part of like a judgment matrix kind of thing?  Or are you assigning one --


MR. THOMPSON:  This is where the math comes in.  In this case, the formulation that was used is different.  I have seen formulations that are very simple; they simply get a 1 to 10 score.  You look at it; this one is worse than that one, and I gave that one a 6 and I will give this one a 7; it gives you what you want.


In this case, the numbers are exponential, so there is a power.  So the lowest possible consequence score is 1, and the highest possible consequence score is 54.6, in which it turns out to come from E to the zero, E to the 1, E to the 2, to the 3, to the 4, but it's a sliding scale consequence.  You can just use the numbers.


So the most likely event and the highest consequence impact could get a score of 500 for that particular risk element.  Those are added up among all the risk elements -- safety, environmental, legislative compliance, reliability cost.  So the result is that these scores that all of the projects got ranged from as low as 30 in some cases and as high as 500 in other cases when all of these were averaged out, weighted for importance, and calculated. 


What does that tell us?  It doesn't tell us a lot.  It tells us that the projects that scored 500 are a lot more important than the projects that scored 30.  And it turned out that the cut-off line is around 100. 


So when we are looking at projects that score 500, 400, 300, we are not really looking at those very closely because they are just so far above the line, it doesn't matter very much.


The projects that scored 120 and 80, we went back and had a look at them to make sure that those are right, that those are in the right order.  In some cases, someone said why is this 120 and that one's 80, and they said, well, this is a safety component.  That could be a problem.  We have to de-energize it to operate it.  Well, that's not a safety component, that's a cost component, that's a reliability component.  When you dock it a couple points for safety, suddenly the order switches. 


And so there is this negotiation that happens a little bit at the boundary.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, that was helpful. 


MS. DUFF:  I forgot where we were.  I am like…


MR. THOMPSON:  I hope that's a good sign.


MS. DUFF:  We all know what E to the power of zero is, though.  Ms. Djurdjevic, are you ready to go?

Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, thank you Madam Chair.  I only have a few questions, so I won't be keeping us for too long.


My first question, if we could pull up the fixed asset continuity schedule, that's the filing requirement chapter 2 appendices, and it's appendix 2BA.  In particular, I am looking at cell E236 -- and I guess we will need to increase it a bit -- and the amount that's indicated there is the $10,008,510, which Staff believes is related to the cost of the building. 


Now if you recall, as we all do, the 2015 settlement agreement, which was approved by the Board, allowed 10.9 million related to the building expenses.  So these two numbers to Staff appear to present an $800,000 difference, and we are wondering whether that $880,000 difference is in another US of A account and whether it's related to the building or something else.


I guess what we are getting at is, you know, how -- do we see somewhere where the building costs are totalling 10.9 million?  Or if the costs are in different accounts or places, if you can point that out to us.


MS. COWLES:  I am going to have to take a look at the ICM, the order. 


MS. DUFF:  I had another question about this that I was thinking if I just jump in, because I was also wondering what was -- the ICM was approved.  That's a rate relief with deprecation being recovered for two years.  There needs to be a true-up, right, to that asset amount for the depreciation that's already been paid for.

So I don't know if that has anything to do with this, but it is a question that I will be asking to have that information --


MS. COWLES:  Yeah, that's a separate question.  This 10080, what we had done is taken out the amount for the leasing space of the building in these tables.  There are other -- I am just wondering if it's the -- I need to look at the table, because what part of that is land that was part of the building, so the land is in a separate bucket, and when we removed the leasing space of the building, the 2.3, we took it out of the building line.  The land should be up above at 1-point-something million.  And the land was added the previous year.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, sorry, I am just not quick getting the...

We are trying to figure out how to get to that 10.9 million, and we see 10.08 here, and you are mentioning there's a million for land or something.  Like, just can you point us to where we find these amounts and what they add up to?

MR. VELLONE:  To the extent it helps, the ICM settlement is on the screen in front of you, and Table 1 includes a line that's titled "incremental capital to be included in rate base", as a result of all of the adjustments that were made in that settlement, not just the agreement to reduce for the $2 million extra space, but all of the other agreements in that settlement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we need to do this by way of an undertaking?  Because there's two things here that we want to come away with.  One is, is there 10.9 million spent on the building, and where in the evidence do we see that?  And then secondly, if anything more than 10.9 million has been spent on the building, we'd like to know which accounts that's recorded in, and then -- sorry, the 2017 test year rate base.

MS. ANDERSON:  It would help me to understand the difference between the 10.1 I see here and the 10.9 that Ms. Djurdjevic is referring to.  Is one cap ex and one capital additions?  Or what's the difference?  Because I noticed in -- I think we'd find in yesterday's transcript that 10.1 is the number that was quoted, so I am trying to understand where the 10.9 is referred to in the settlement.

MS. COWLES:  10.9 is -- the total, 13.2 minus the 2.35, is 10.9.  The 10.1 is the asset component breakdown, the capital costs for the different parts of the billing.  So building roof, parking lot, and land comes to 10.1.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MS. COWLES:  The 10.9 is when you take the 10.1 and add in the amortization expense and the CCA, in the schedules that I see in the settlement proposal.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, that helps.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I guess the -- in your May 8th amended filing you have indicated that InnPower will adjust the fixed asset continuity to reflect the assets determined in the 2015 case of 10.9 million.  So I guess we are just trying to still figure out where the fixed asset continuity shows the 10.9, or is that not the approach that you think is correct any more?

MS. COWLES:  I think I'll have to take that as an undertaking and explain where the 10.9 is coming from and what the reflection is, because what we did do is take the building, the cost that was in there, and reduce it by the 2.35, which was the previous decided value for the leasing space.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, okay.  So we will give that Undertaking No. J2.3.  And I'd also like to reconfirm that you can also advise if there's any costs beyond 10.9 million that are included in 2017 test-year rate base -- well, related to the building, yeah.

MS. COWLES:  Yeah, that's fine. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO ADVISE WHERE THE FIXED ASSET CONTINUITY SHOWS THE 10.9; to confirm whether there are costs beyond 10.9 million that are included in the 2017 test-year rate base related to the building


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Okay.  So --


MS. DUFF:  Excuse me.  What was the reference to the leasing space, the 2.35?  What's the source of that?

MS. COWLES:  It's in the settlement agreement, the 2.35 million related to the part of the building that we were not putting into rate base.  If you look at the EB-2014-0086 settlement proposal of November 12th, 2014 --


MS. DUFF:  Yeah, I remember square footage.  I don't remember that number.

MS. COWLES:  The summary paragraph, if you don't mind me reading it, on page 5, if you have got that up.

MR. VELLONE:  To the extent it helps, it's on the screen.

MS. COWLES:  So if you go to page 5, the bottom paragraph:

"For the purpose of settlement the parties have agreed to reduce the capital amount in the ICM by 2.35 million to 10.9 million."

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I guess it's the characterization of what that 2.35 is that I was --


MS. COWLES:  Oh, okay.

MS. DUFF:  -- having difficulty with.  I see that number, and I can read that sentence, thank you.

Please continue.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So --


MS. DUFF:  Do we need an undertaking for that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We gave that Undertaking --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, that's --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  -- J2.3.

So my next couple of questions are about your capital expenditures and the pacing and prioritization of projects.  And as you know, the OEB's policies -- namely, the regulatory framework and our accounting handbooks -- it emphasized the importance of prioritizing and pacing investments, because it is essential to rate predictability and also is used to mitigate unusual rate increases.

So, you know, we do look at this quite closely, and we looked at the May 8th amended filing, and we don't need to call it up, I will just quote it, and if we have any questions we can pull it up.  You have indicated that InnPower Corporation's capital spending needs to remain high to support your growth.  It is more essential than ever to execute effective prioritization to meet the needs of the growing distribution system.


And then during the technical conference on September 13 -- and this is on the transcript, pages 77, 78 -- again, we don't need to look at it, but the discussion was about weighting and prioritization of projects, and it emerged that you really only focused -- applied that to your 2017 projects and not after 2017.

So those appear to be contradictory statements, I think you'd agree, and I would like to give the witnesses an opportunity to explain that apparent contradiction and tell us about the company's approach to pacing and prioritizing investments, because we are -- Staff's position, or Staff's view, is that we are not seeing it; that what we see is, you know, the past 2013 to '16 period of underspending, less than the OEB-approved amount, and then this bubble, if I can characterize it that way, of expenses in 2017, and we are not clear at all what the plan is going forward after this year.

So what can you -- you know, what can the witnesses tell us about how the company is going to deal with this going forward?

MR. THOMPSON:  So I wouldn't characterize 2017 as a bubble in the capital plan.  In fact, it's the lowest of the coming years.  The concern would be to manage the capital expenditures that are needed within the budget that's available to avoid rate shock. 

With the age of the assets and the potential for future investment, it is important that renewals start taking place at greater levels.  If you look back -- and I am looking at the table attached to JT1.2, which is the summary of capital expenditures for the previous five years and the upcoming five years.  So as you can see, the ask for 2017 is the lowest of all of those years.  That number was higher when the table was put together and it was reduced by 2 million as a result of moving projects to system access and collecting capital contributions for them.

What you will see, if you look backwards a couple years, is that system renewal has been very low, and system service has been very high.  Those were projects -- our new substation was built, possibly two; certainly lines and transformers were built to support the system as it stands today. 

In 2017 and 2018, the service numbers are now quite low because those projects are directly related to subdivision developments.  So the access numbers are high. At the same time, there has been an attempt to fortify the system renewal projects due to the output of the ACA, which was written in late 2015, early 2016, and identified that there was a significant backlog of investment that had not been dealt with, and a significant backlog of poles, for instance, that are not only older than the TUL's recommended in the Kinectrics report, but are dramatically approaching the maximum TUL life of the Kinectrics report.

I don't think it would be prudent for anyone to at least not be planning to replace a 70-year-old pole.  There is some debate about what exactly when and exactly what the strength is that’s left in that pole, but it's a 70-year-old pole and there's a lot of those, and there's tables to show that in the DSP.

So what I would say is that the numbers in the 2017 plan, they do reflect prudent spending and they are not a blank cheque.  They are low, they are low compared to even other years. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  During the technical conference, and it is on the transcript, the statement was that you're not actually prioritizing and pacing beyond 2017 --


MR. THOMPSON:  I am sorry, I forgot that component of your question.  That's because the projects beyond 2017 have not been scoped in detail.  There aren’t business cases for them.  There is no need -- the ACA shows the need, the development plans show the need.  But it's not a requirement of the DSP to do detail project narratives for projects beyond the test year. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we don't have the -- you know, I think we have agreed that you haven't done what you call  scoping and detail, we call it pacing and prioritization past 2017.  So what is this going to -- how is this going to impact the rates that customers will see? 

Typically, you know, there will be a kind of lumpiness and spending would have an impact on rates similarly.  So what can you tell us about what customers can expect to see in rates? 

MR. VELLONE:  In what year? 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  For whenever this takes effect and going forward.

MR. VELLONE:  2022, I guess.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes. 

MR. MALCOLM:  Is your question in regard to how InnPower is going to prioritize the projects in the future? 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, that was part of my first set of questions and, you know, the fact that we didn't have…

MR. MALCOLM:  We will be doing business cases for each of these projects.  So for each subdivision, when they come on line, when we hear about them, that becomes a priority for the system access.  The degradation of our system for the system renewal, that will also be taken into consideration in regards to where are the outages, what's the impact of those outages, the consequences of those outages and managing that need. 

So we will be taking an overall look at the whole program in the capital, trying to ensure that we are keeping a consistent capital base throughout those five, ten years.  But priorities will change as developments come on stream, storm damages start taking out some of our infrastructure, as well as the condition of our infrastructure.  As we move on in time, we will notice that some of the poles that were ranked as fair all of a sudden become poor, and we will have to address those needs as they come up. 

So it's a dynamic mix on the capital side that, as a corporation, we need to ensure that we are ensuring that we are meeting the needs of our reliability as well as our system distribution access.

So there will be business cases completed and that's part of the direction that I provided to the engineering group at InnPower is that we need to look at each of these projects that are coming up, one with development, two with our system renewal, and determining what is the need for each of those projects and what are the consequences of not doing those projects. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just to conclude on this point, in InnPower's view, this is still providing value to customers.  You know, the approach you have taken is -- again, it's not what the OEB Staff would like to see in terms of pacing and prioritization, but is there still value to customers with your approach.

MR. MALCOLM:  It's fine the talk theory, but we have to talk reality.  And the reality is that as storms change, climate changes, access to our system based on developments changes, you can't have a single model that determines what your capital needs are going to be because those needs will change year over year, depending on what happens in our territory.  So if all of a sudden development stops, then your system access stops.  Then you are working on system renewal.

So it's not a theoretical numerical analysis that takes place.  It's based on the needs of the utility at the time. 

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, I will move on to look at some of your capital additions.  This is undertaking JT1.5, if we can pull that up, and I understand this was produced in response to questions about, you know, where are you year-to-date in terms of your spending.  So it reflects July 30th, 2017, but also for the rest of the forecast 2017.  And the intent was to demonstrate that your spending actually was $2 million greater than the proxy amount used in your 2017 net capital additions.

So in looking at the chart, this is going to page 10 and 11 of that undertaking, there's several notes, in particular notes 6 to 9, and those indicate sort of a number of, I guess, contingencies or things that are beyond the utility's control.  So you are waiting for county confirmation or municipal approvals, or projects are deferred due to developer delays. 

I am not going to go through each of those projects and ask what the likelihood is of them getting done this year or next year.  But could you maybe just discuss or explain to us what -- because there are some big amounts that have these notes attached to them, you know, for example, you know, IPC -- these those don't have line items.  But the line extension of Mapleview Drive, $830,000, re-poling McKay Road, $635,000, so, you know -- and then again -- and then they have these conditions that, you know, this is something that may or may not happen.  So the question is, what kind of comfort 

-- how much confidence does the company have that these projects are going to be done and should therefore be included in your ask?

MR. THOMPSON:  So at any point in time the forecast is just the best information you have, but to answer your question, the lowest probability of these projects, in fact, have been removed.  The two you mentioned, Mapleview and McKay, they are both showing zero likelihood for the rest of the year.  So we have gone through the list and sorted out the ones that we don't think will happen and left the ones that we do think will happen, and there are still some contingencies for that.

For instance, if the town is widening a road, there's land acquisitions and things, but when the town shows up with their machines we have to move the poles, and there's still a lot of time for changes to happen on that front, forward and backwards, on these projects.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So you have indicated these -- so these are not happening 2017, even though we still see them in your budget net amounts, and the point of this exercise of JT1.5 was the company trying to demonstrate that actually it has about $2 million more costs than the 4.4 million that --


MR. THOMPSON:  Can I correct that?  It's 600,000.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry?

MR. THOMPSON:  600,000.  This demonstrates that it was 600,000 more than expected.  Four-four is the total ask.  The projects added up to six-six-eight-nine.  We took out the two-three-five.  It worked out to four-four.  And the target -- running target looks like about 5 million, which is about 600,000 more.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, which number shows the 600,000 more, the 5.1 or 5,097,000?

MR. THOMPSON:  Five-one --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- is the forecast spend for 2017, and that's to be based -- compared to the four-four on Table 2.1 in the previous undertaking, where we said four-four was the capital ask.  So we are on track for five-one, which is about 600,000 and change.  And the point of that was to prove that, yes, please give us the four-four, we are going to spend it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, well -- so page 10, I mean, the point of this exercise, the chart that you showed us on page 10, you know, your base 4 budget forecast amount shows that supposedly you are going to be -- need to spend almost $2 million.  Now it's -- actually, it's only 600,000; that's correct?

MR. THOMPSON:  So that $2 million is on the upside.  The pole lines that you mentioned earlier are on the down side.  There's other downs.  I won't try to rhyme them off the cuff.  The net is plus 600,000.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And if some of these projects are -- fail to proceed, so, you know, some of the ones that we mentioned aren't in 2017 or maybe with '18, so what kind of impact would that have on the 2017 rate base?

MR. THOMPSON:  So we are asking for capital approval for four-four.  If the project proceeds in 2017, then it will be funded from that.  If it's deferred to 2018, presumably accommodations will be made, maybe a 2018 project would be advanced.  Otherwise, the rate -- the rate is being asked on the forecast four-four.  It wouldn't change it, I guess is what I am trying to say.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, just a couple questions on the 2.284 million, which was removed but is still not -- no, no, that's the in -- sorry, increased capital contribution of 2.284.  There's some documents where it has not been corrected, and I just wanted to point those out and get an undertaking to correct that.

So looking at the September 20th version of Appendix 2BA, account 1995, if we can bring that up.  And it's cell J378.  Down.  378, so down, down.  Just type it in, and then the left one at J378 will go to that, but...  Sorry, it's just...  Sorry, 2BA?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, that's correct.  It needs to be updated.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, so -- right, because it's -- and similarly in Appendix 2H, account 4245.  You can -- subject to check, you can agree -- it is still showing 522 and it needs to be updated.  Oh...

MS. DUFF:  Just to confirm, what are these worksheets?  What's the vintage of these, or the dates?

MR. VELLONE:  The document we have open was the Chapter 2 appendices filed following the technical conference, so this was dated September 2017.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. COWLES:  So this one -- yes, so this is the amortization of the deferred revenue.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Correct.  And they are -- and you have account 4245 still showing there.

MS. COWLES:  Okay, yeah, I understand.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we will correct those two, and -- actually, you will correct those two.  And --


MR. VELLONE:  We will mark that as an undertaking, I think?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, make that J2.4.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  TO CORRECT TWO ENTRIES IN THE APPENDIX.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Those are all my questions.  Thank you, panel.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  It is quarter after 12:00.  We have to make a decision what we are going to do.  The Panel has a few questions.  Do you have any redirect that you know of right now?

MR. VELLONE:  Not at this time.

MS. DUFF:  Why don't we take a short break, and what I would like to do -- not a full lunch break, because I don't see a point of keeping this witness panel that much longer.  And perhaps you could use this opportunity to confer with your witnesses regarding the Board's request for argument in-chief and whether that's a deliverable for Friday.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  I will invite Board Staff counsel to join me --


MS. DUFF:  Yup.  Okay --


MR. VELLONE:  -- for that conference --


MS. DUFF:  -- so let's regroup at 12:30, okay?  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:13 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:41 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Sorry I am not very good on my time estimates today.  The panel has a few questions for witness panel number 2.
Continued Questions by the Board:


Mr. Malcolm, the capital expenditure plan that you right now have between 2017 and '21, you've presented that to your board of directors and the town of Innisfil?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Given the dollar amounts involved and the capital that is going the be required, was there any concern regarding constraints, regarding funding that capital over the next five years?

MR. MALCOLM:  Not from the board of directors or the town.  They recognize, as the town of Innisfil is growing as well, they are seeing the same capital improvements in their programs as well, and they recognize that as development proceeds that it will take additional dollars to move that forward. 

What we addressed was the capital contributions and the use of the economic evaluation model that is available to us, and that we will be moving forward with that.

MS. DUFF:  Any constraints from a personnel perspective, with your 44 employees that have been held flat, in order to deliver that?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, there is constraints.  A lot of our staff are working overtime.  The growth and system renewal part of our program has shown on the staff a very hard strain on them.  Sick leave has increased over the past number of years; people going on medical leaves, personal leaves has increased as well.


We have tried to address with some of the contracted services we have to help them out, but the intention of the whole program and the number of staff we do have, there is a strain on our system for meeting the needs of our growth.

MS. DUFF:  And to the extent you bring in extra contracting, third parties to help you out, how does that factor into the 44 FTE?

MR. MALCOLM:  It's not included in the 44.  It's outside of that 44 count, so it's an additional group of individuals we utilize to help us out with our program.  So we look at what's the need today, do we have the resources today to handle that.  If we don't, then we go and contract that service out.  If at the time that we can handle it with internal staff, then the contract person is relieved and we continue on with our program. 

So we try to balance it out to say here is the level work that's required for us to do as a utility.  Any blips that occur in that situation where all of a sudden we have an increase in locates and all of a sudden we have to do more system access or system renewal projects, we evaluate that at the time.  If it can be handled by our internal staff, we will do it.  If not, then we will look at external resources.

MS. DUFF:  And Mr. Thompson talk about prioritization of your capital plan over those years and how in some years, you just have to displace perhaps -- what was it?  

-- the system renewal.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  What if there's always something bigger and ahead of schedule than you’re expecting?  What does happen to your system renewal?

MR. MALCOLM:  In my experience, I have been in the utility industry for 30 years, is that system renewal -- the only work that you do on system renewal is the emergency ones.  The consequences are really high.  You address the growth of the utility, and the growth basically drives your capital program at that time. 

I experienced that when my previous position was in Waterloo region, and we went and are still going under massive growth in that region.  And what you find is that when development is at a high pace, you’re doing all capital projects related to that growth. 

There are years that you get like 2008, where there was a financial crisis and then all of a sudden the industry dropped, development dropped, interest rates changed, that all of a sudden the capital program that was predicted to be done -- so you had subdivisions online, the developer said no, we are not proceeding with that because it doesn’t make economic sense to build the subdivision, so then your focus goes back to what are the key areas we are missing in regards to our system renewal.

MS. DUFF:  As the town of Innisfil grows, all utilities are going to be increasing at that pace.  I assume InnServices is expecting to almost double its business; is that correct?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct, with one exception. InnPower also services south Barrie, so InnServices won't see the south Barrie component, and the south Barrie component could be up to 40,000 residential units.

MS. DUFF:  The customers in south Barrie, they are more of a traditional pure distributor customer from the LDC you are, InnPower services --


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  -- a regulated entity for gas and electrical distribution, they are a typical customer.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  The segment of the building that you are proposing to lease in the future, there is a mention of leasehold improvements.  Who is managing that and where are those costs? 

MR. MALCOLM:  InnPower is overseeing the recommendations from the engineering firm, so we said this is what we will provide.  It was part of our budget in previous years to look at when we do lease that space out here is the X number of dollars that will be provided to the tenant moving in, so looking at drywalling and sealing, fire protection, because when they built the building originally because there was no tenant, we didn't have any requirements for fireproofing that side of the building because it was considered par of InnPower.

Once you move into a tenant-leased space, you need to have a separation between InnPower's portion of the building an the tenant’s space building.  So we are covering that cost, because that should have been part of the cost of doing you are upgrades.

MS. DUFF:  Could you identify and isolate all of the costs involved with the leasehold improvements that are embedded in the 2017?

MR. MALCOLM:  We can take an undertaking on that.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I think we are at J2.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO IDENTIFY AND ISOLATE COSTS INVOLVED WITH THE LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS EMBEDDED IN THE 2017

MS. DUFF:  You said you are involved with that.  Do you have the capacity to look at becoming a lessor?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, it's tenant space we signed September 1st, 2017.  The majority of the project management is being handled by the tenant themselves.  We are receiving updates from the engineering group and the design group in regards to the internal works that they have to do that we’re paying for.  I have my vice president of customer service that's overseeing that component for me, Mr. Brown.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Brown.  And what percentage of your time do you think you are dedicating to that and Mr. Brown in the last couple of months?

MR. MALCOLM:  I would have to defer to Mr. Brown.  My time has just been strictly -- once a week, I get an update.  So it’s about half an hour of a week just to get an update of what the status is and where they are.  But Mr. Brown, as I mentioned, has been quarterbacking it for InnPower.

MS. DUFF:  Are you payable to tell us who the person is leasing?  Is it associated with the town of Innisfil?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, it's a day care centre, so they are leasing both stories of that lease space.  It was daycare centre that was formed in Alcona, which is in the town of Innisfil, and they were looking at growing their business.  And this became a perfect opportunity to be located in the town campus of the town of Innisfil, so the recreation complex is adjacent to our building as well.  So soccer fields are available for their children activities.

MS. DUFF:  Do they use your parking lot?  I mean, you could have parents coming in and dropping off.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  One final question, Ms. Cowles, regarding the undertaking.  It was asked by Board Staff regarding reconciling the capital amount in the ICM application with what's in your application for addition to rate base.

I asked a question and you said correctly that it was a distinct issue.  And my question -- I was wondering if perhaps we could go back to it now.

So when the ICM was approved and you were receiving a rate rider, part of that had deprecation.  So you have been collecting money towards the depreciation of the building.  Could you point me to where in your evidence you then have reconciled where that deprecation has then come off, so that we can ensure that we are not paying for it again? 

MS. COWLES:  So we have not done the reconciliation.  I believe it -- I wasn't part of it, but in the custom IR process when we originally were putting forth to do it, it was our interpretation that we had to wait for financial audited statements in order to do the reconciliation after the -- so the rider was still being accumulated. 

MS. DUFF:  It's still there now.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.  We were given our interim rate order, so we need to do the reconciliation of all those.  It will probably result in an amount owing back to the ratepayer at this point, because it's gone on for another seven or eight months.  So we are looking for a Board recommendation of when to do that reconciliation.

Because of the timing of this application, we had anticipated that we would be doing it as part of the 2017 IRM process.

MS. DUFF:  In your GL did you set accounts?  Do you know they are set up, like this is the revenue we are collecting, this is how much we’ve collected?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we do a monthly reconciliation on that amount.

MS. DUFF:  So you would have the amount collected to date?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we would have that.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, and you are looking for Board direction.

MS. COWLES:  Well --


MS. DUFF:  Could you be specific?  So I was not sure about this audit that you were talking about, audited financial statements, in that require -- oh, Ms. Pinke, please jump in if you know.

MS. PINKE:  Sorry, I don't -- not directly Board direction, just, but, you know, when should we basically do the true-up.

MS. DUFF:  I guess the word "true-up" is problematic.  There is a true-up regarding the exact dollar amount of the capital.  Usually ICMs are done on a forecast basis.  But there is also -- I would use the word "reconciliation".  There is a revenue requirement off-page that provided rate relief and earmarked for certain things, and the concern would be or what the reconciliation would demonstrate is the amounts that were collected already from customers with respect to that asset.  Is that your understanding?

MS. PINKE:  It is my understanding.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So we are using the same language.  It's reconciliation.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, just to follow up, just can I confirm, the depreciation then that's in your test year, is it based on the 10 million or the amount reduced by the 2.3, or is it based on the full value of the build -- the 13 million of the building?

MS. COWLES:  We adjusted the depreciation --


MS. ANDERSON:  So you did adjustment --


MS. COWLES:  -- in the continuity schedules.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- when you removed the 2.3 million --


MS. COWLES:  Yes, we went through all that and we adjusted the depreciation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We need an undertaking to provide the reconciliation for the building depreciation.  We will make that J2.6.  And what we're --


MS. DUFF:  Just hold on a moment.

MR. VELLONE:  Hold on.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Pinke, perhaps the reconciliation hasn't happened; right?  You haven't done it yet; right?

MS. PINKE:  Correct.

MS. DUFF:  Perhaps you could just give us the balances in those GL accounts that you have accumulated to date, whether it be the end of August.  Can you do that?  Just the accounts, the account numbers, and the dollars that are in those accounts --


MS. COWLES:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. DUFF:  -- that would -- I think that would just be an easy request, and if you can do that that would be sufficient. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO PROVIDE THE BALANCES IN THE GL ACCOUNTS ACCUMULATED TO DATE.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And if I could -- just an add-on question to that, are there any other rate riders that need to be trued up?

MS. COWLES:  There is also -- we were giving back to the customers an amount for the capital gain that we got when we sold the land.  That also is continuing to be paid back to the customer.

MS. DUFF:  Was there a time period on that?  Or it didn't have a sunset date?

MS. PINKE:  It did have a sunset date.  But it was all -- it was associated with the ICM.  So...

MS. DUFF:  Just one second, please.

It was $252,000, so -- okay, thank you.  All right.  Those were my questions.  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  I don't have a question, but the Panel would like the parties to address in argument the interpretation of the reduction of 2.35 million from the capital amount of 13.2 million associated with the new building set out in the settlement proposal of November the 12th, 2014, filed in EB-2014-0086.

I don't have any questions.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, any redirect?

MR. VELLONE:  No redirect, Madam Chair.  I do want to make sure that I got your request on linking the revenue requirement work form, which is not technically on evidence, back to evidence properly.  And I will explain what it is we are intending to do and make sure that is going to give you what you need.

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. VELLONE:  In front of you you have the revenue requirement work form filed at the technical conference, so what we would propose to do and could be done by Friday is to go cell by cell in column M only, so that is the updated numbers for the technical conference, the most up-to-date request, and link that back to the evidentiary record.

The vast majority of it is going to link back to the Chapter 2 appendices that were also filed concurrently with the technical conference, and to the extent there are calculations necessary for arriving at the numbers in the revenue-requirement work form we can explain those.

Is that roughly what you are looking for, link it back to the Chapter 2 appendices?

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, just so I am clear, you said it would be referencing back to the appendices, which are, again, numbers.

MR. VELLONE:  Numbers that are part of the evidentiary record.  So for example, column M16, gross fixed assets, the 56 million, we can cite you back to Chapter 2, Appendix 2BA, and we can cite you to the average of the years to arrive at that number, and we can do that for everything in column M.  That's a reasonableness scope of what we can do.

Is that going to get you where you need to be?

MS. ANDERSON:  It doesn't sound like that gets us to the description of the item and what -- anything other than more numbers; is that correct?

MS. DUFF:  We get the math.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are getting the math.

MR. VELLONE:  You are getting the math.

MS. ANDERSON:  But not where you have described what it is.  If, for instance, you know, if you had changed your late-payment number and you changed it here and you link me back to appendix, where is the description, perhaps, as to what has happened to that late payment?  I guess that's the bit that might be missing if...

MR. VELLONE:  My understanding is that the scope of -- from discussing with the witnesses is that the scope of work does get larger once you add that additional layer, and that the challenge would be getting it done for Friday.

One of our witnesses is listening in online, so I keep checking my e-mail to see if he sends anything.

MS. DUFF:  I wonder if the -- okay.  Well, thank you for notifying me of that.  What I was just thinking off the top of my head, which is dangerous, was is this necessary for other parties in order to file their submissions?  I mean, this is a request of the Board that we need in order to write our decision, but if it were to be decoupled from your argument in-chief and to follow at a later date, is that going to be somehow prejudicing the other parties?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would prejudice the other parties, because then you would be making your decision based on something that we didn't have available to us at the time we made argument.  However, I wonder if it's possible -- what you are looking for is the interrogatory response or the update or the technical-conference undertaking that forms the basis for a change, or if it's from the original evidence then it's from the original evidence.

I would have thought that most of that should be doable by Friday, or maybe by Monday, but -- and there may be some things that are harder to get, but most of it should be pretty straightforward, I would have thought.

MR. VELLONE:  So we can try our best efforts to get what we can get done in the time frame that we have discussed.

MS. DUFF:  Well, regardless, the Board will issue a procedural order with the dates.  So we have heard what you have suggested in terms of dates, and we understand the lag between filing of argument in-chief and subsequent submissions, so we will take that into consideration.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  What -- we are just conferring in terms of the completeness of that information and if there's any subsequent updates.  But I will have you confer with Ms. O'Connell regarding this date, and the Board will issue its procedural order based on your best estimate of what's doable.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just, Ms. O'Connell is pointing me to a document that might assist the parties and their -- the request that's been made, and we have a document on the record which is a summary of changes -- okay.  It's a 2017 revenue requirement work form, version 7, tab 14, tracking sheet. 

MS. ANDERSON:  I haven't looked at this form.  But I see it just says interrogatories.  If there is a way of being a bit more specific that it was SEC, or VECC, or Staff, or something like that, if you could.

MS. DUFF:  We will work with that; thank you for the suggestion.

All right.  With the Board's thanks, thank you very much, panel, and thank you to our court reporter and for our assistant in helping with all the documents today.

MS. ANDERSON:  Excellent job, really well done. 

MS. DUFF:  This hearing is complete -- I mean the oral hearing phase is complete.  No decision. 
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 1:03 p.m.
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